FILED 04-06-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2022AP000146-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

THOR S. LANCIAL,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment and an Order Entered in the Dunn County Circuit Court, the Honorable Rod W. Smeltzer, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

KATHILYNNE A. GROTELUESCHEN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085045

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1770 grotelueschenk@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the state present sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Lancial knowingly possessed child pornography on the date alleged?

The jury found Mr. Lancial guilty of each count of possession of child pornography as alleged in the information.

2. Did the search of Mr. Lancial's cell phone exceed the scope of the search warrant for the residence from which the phone was seized?

The circuit court denied Mr. Lancial's motion to suppress the evidence obtained from his cell phone.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication may be warranted under Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a) as this case may clarify or resolve a conflict regarding whether the state needs to obtain a warrant to search the contents of a cell phone seized during execution of a search warrant for the premises on which the cell phone is found.

Mr. Lancial does not request oral argument, though he would welcome it if the court were to deem it helpful.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 12, 2019, the state filed a complaint charging Thor S. Lancial with ten counts of possession of child pornography. (2:1-6). The complaint alleged that "on or about July 9, 2019, in the City of Menomonie," Mr. Lancial knowingly possessed photograph(s) of a child engaging in sexually explicit conduct. (15:1-6).¹

As a factual basis, the complaint asserted that on April 30, 2019, Investigator Maloree Zassenhaus was notified of a cyber tip indicating that an image of child pornography was uploaded to BingImage on March 3, 2019, using an IP address owned by Richard Lancial. (2:6). Thereafter, on July 9, 2019, Investigator Zassenhaus executed a search warrant at Richard Lancial's residence. (2:6). While executing that search warrant, she seized a Samsung cell phone belonging to Mr. Lancial. (2:7). A download of the cell phone was conducted and multiple images of child pornography were found in the cache folder of the phone's gallery application. (2:7-9).

The case was eventually set for trial. Prior to trial, Mr. Lancial, through defense counsel, filed a motion to suppress evidence. (48). In it, he asked for suppression of any and all evidence obtained as a result of the illegal search of his cell phone. Mr. Lancial argued that, at the time the phone was

¹ Count 10 of the original complaint had an offense date of March 3, 2019. (2:5). This was amended to July 9, 2019, in an amended complaint and information filed later. (14; 15).

searched, Investigator Zassenhaus "had not received a warrant to search any phone." (48:1-2).

A motion hearing was held on April 8, 2021. (148). Investigator Zassenhaus was the sole witness. She testified that she obtained a search warrant on July 8, 2019, and executed that warrant on July 9, 2019. (148:7-8). Exhibit 3 – the search warrant – was introduced as evidence; it states that Investigator Zassenhaus informed the court that, at Richard Lancial's residence:

there are now located and (concealed)(in plain view) certain things, to-wit: laptops, tablets, or any electronic device that has user generated data stored in internal and external memory including e-mail, photos, video or other form of electronic communications or data included therein.

which things may constitute evidence of a crime, to-wit: possession of child pornography contrary to Wis. Stats. Section 948.12 and the substhereunder.

And prayed that a search warrant be issued to search said premises or phones for said things.

(57:1; App. 7)(*emphasis* added). At the bottom of the warrant, the circuit court ordered:

NOW, THEREFORE, in the name of the State of Wisconsin, you are commanded forthwith to search the said premises, vehicle and persons for said things, and if the same or any portion thereof are found to bring the same and the person in possession, if the same are found, and return this warrant within 48 hours before this Court and be dealt with according to law.

(57:1; App. 7)(emphasis added). Investigator Zassenhaus testified that she seized various items while executing this search warrant, including a Samsung cell phone. (148:9-10). A download of that phone was completed on July 9, 2019, and reviewed on July 10, 2019, at which time child pornography was located. (148:10).

After testimony, defense counsel argued, among other things, that while the search warrant allowed the state to go into the residence and take various devices, it did not authorize the search of those devices and therefore, the search of Mr. Lancial's phone exceeded the scope of the warrant. (148:23-24).

The circuit court denied the motion, holding:

I do find there was sufficient specificity to obtain the items that were subject to that search at the address stated in the search warrant and also the line specifically authorizes that based on that affidavit and based on that search warrant, that they could -- a search warrant was issued to search said premise and/or phones for said things and it's specific what they were looking for.

(148:25; App. 10).

The case proceeded to a two-day jury trial on April 12 and 13, 2021. The state called four witnesses: Officer Jeremy Wilterdink, Lieutenant Kelly Pollock, Investigator Maloree Zassenhaus, and Anthony Stofferahn.

Case 2022AP000146 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-06-2022 Page 10 of 30

At the outset, the prosecutor told the jury that the evidence would show that the ten images at issue were all located "in the gallery applications [sic] cache folder," which was a "hidden folder" within which images will stay even if deleted from the gallery application, and "the user cannot see what is in the folder." (137:88).

As relevant, Officer Wilterdink testified that he had received notification of a cyber tip associated with 2255 Wilson Street in Menomonie. (137:117-118, 122-123). He also informed the jury that on July 9, 2019, he participated in the execution of a search warrant at that address and his job was to collect evidence. (137:123-124). He explained that, during execution of the warrant, he was able to determine that six devices were connected to the wireless network and that he ultimately collected eleven items from the residence, including a phone found in the living room. (137:125-127, 129-130).

Lieutenant Kelly Pollock testified next. She informed the jury that she also assisted with execution of the search warrant on July 9, 2019. (137:154). Lieutenant Pollock testified that she interviewed Mr. Lancial at the scene that day and Mr. Lancial asked if it was possible that their IP had been hacked or if material could have been linked to the IP address due to a pop up. (137:155, 160-161). Mr. Lancial "denied looking at child pornography and said he never would intentionally do that." (137:162). He also informed her that he did not believe his mother or father would look at child pornography and that he did

Case 2022AP000146 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-06-2022 Page 11 of 30

not know "his brothers [sic] preferences." (137:162). Finally, Lieutenant Pollock testified that Mr. Lancial told her he had a cell phone that could only be used on Wi-Fi, that he had access to Wi-Fi at the residence, and that he "was the sole user of that cell phone." (137:163-164). Mr. Lancial did inform her that a young lady he referred to as his niece used his phone to take photographs of gymnastic related things and may have downloaded some images of the same. (137:165).

Next the jury heard from Investigator Maloree AsZassenhaus. relevant to this appeal, Investigator Zassenhaus testified that, in response to the cyber tip, she obtained and executed a search warrant at Richard Lancial's residence. (137:191-193; App. 15-17). Mr. Lancial was present at the residence with his parents, Richard and Sherry, and waited outside while the residence was searched. (137:194-195; App. 18-19). Investigator Zassenhaus explained that while searching the residence she retrieved a Samsung Galaxy J7 cell phone from the living room. (137:197; App. 21). The cell phone and other items collected were then brought back to the police department and searched. (137:198-199; App. 22-23). No child pornography was found on any of the items except the Samsung cell phone which had been identified as Mr. Lancial's. (137:199-211; App. 23-35).

Specifically, Investigator Zassenhaus explained that there were over 7,200 images on Mr. Lancial's phone, some of which were icons, selfie images, and images of family members. (137:209-210; App. 33-34). She told the jury that the majority of the images were

Case 2022AP000146 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-06-2022 Page 12 of 30

"of girls either in gymnastics leotards in different gymnastic poses as well as girls in -- young girls in bikinis or swimsuits as well as some of the child pornography." (137:210-211; App. 34-35). She also identified and described ten images of child pornography which were received as exhibits 1-10 and shown to the jury. (137:220-232; App. 44-56).

On cross-examination, Investigator Zassenhaus admitted that she never asked Mr. Lancial if anyone else had access to the black Samsung phone and, when asked if he thought the phone would work with the internet, Mr. Lancial said "I think so." (144:35-36; App. 81-82). She also testified that she could not recall if she had looked for any Bing searches on the devices and noted that none had been documented in her reports despite the fact that the cyber tips had been the result of Bing searches. (144:39-40; App. 85-86).

respect to when With the images were downloaded onto Mr. Lancial's phone, Investigator Zassenhaus testified that there was no meta data containing that information associated with the ten images of child pornography. (144:41-42; App. 87-88). She admitted that she had no information as to when the images were downloaded onto the phone or who downloaded them. (144:42-44; App. 88-90).

On re-direct, the prosecutor had Investigator Zassenhaus confirm that she did not locate any meta data for the ten images of child pornography and, therefore, did not have any Case 2022AP000146 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-06-2022 Page 13 of 30

information about when or how they came to be on that phone. (144:54-55, 64; App. 100-101, 110). She could not say whether it was March, June, or some completely different date. (144:54, 56; App. 100, 102).

Finally, Anthony Stofferahn, a digital forensic examiner for the Wisconsin Department of Justice, testified. Mr. Stofferahn testified that he completed a physical extraction of the Samsung phone using Cellebrite. (144:71-73; App. 117-119). He explained that he identified images of child pornography on the phone. (144:75-76; App. 121-122). Mr. Stofferahn also testified that he looked at the web history and search terms from the phone and it "wasn't as extensive as [he] thought it would be." (144:77; App.123). He then found that the phone had a Tor Onion Browser as well as 12 VPNs, which could explain the lack of search history available. (144:78-79; App. 124-125).

With respect to the ten images for which Mr. Lancial was charged, Mr. Stofferahn testified that they were all located "in the cache file within the gallery of the device." (144:88; App. 134). He explained that the gallery application "is where all of your photos are taken and stored, whether it be downloaded or physically taken" with the device. (144:88-89; App. 134-135). Importantly, he stated that the cache folder is not something that the user of the phone would see. (144:90; App. 136). He explained that when the user selects an image in the gallery application, the image gets larger and a cache file, which is the exact same image in a smaller size, is created and placed in the cache folder. (144:92-93; App. 138-139).

Case 2022AP000146 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-06-2022 Page 14 of 30

If the image itself is deleted from the gallery, the cache file remains but can't physically be seen in the cache folder. (144:93-94; App. 139-140).

On cross-examination, Mr. Stofferahn admitted that he had no information about when the images were downloaded or when they went into the cache folder, and that the original images themselves were not on the phone. (144:100-101, 106-108; App. 146-147, 152-154).

After evidence was received, defense counsel moved for a mistrial and/or directed verdict, which was denied. (144:110-113). Closing arguments were then given and the jury returned verdicts of guilty on all ten counts. (112-121; 144:140-174).

Sentencing was held on July 20, 2021, at which time the circuit court sentenced Mr. Lancial to 14 years and 6 months of prison, divided as four and a half years of initial confinement and ten years of extended supervision, on each count, concurrent. (124:2; App. 4).

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The state failed to present sufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Lancial knowingly possessed child pornography.

The evidence presented at trial was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that, on July 9, 2019, Mr. Lancial knowingly possessed the ten images for which he was convicted. As a result, Mr. Lancial's convictions must be vacated.

A. Legal standard and standard of review.

"In order to obtain a conviction, the state must prove every essential element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Ivy*, 119 Wis. 2d 591, 606-607, 350 N.W.2d 622 (1984), A conviction obtained without sufficient evidence is a violation of the defendant's right to due process of law. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wis. Const. Art. I, § 1; *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 365 (1970).

"The question of whether the evidence was sufficient to sustain a verdict of guilt in a criminal prosecution is a question of law," which this court reviews de novo. State v. Smith, 2012 WI 91, ¶24, 342 Wis. 2d 710, 817 N.W.2d 410. In doing so, this court will uphold the verdict unless the evidence "is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. (quoting State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990)). Stated another way, this court is to "decide whether 'any

Case 2022AP000146 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-06-2022 Page 16 of 30

possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial." *Id.*, ¶44 (quoting *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 506.). Should this court determine that the evidence produced at trial is insufficient, it must order a judgment of acquittal. *Ivy*, 119 Wis. 2d at 608-610.

B. The evidence was insufficient to prove that Mr. Lancial knowingly possessed child pornography on July 9, 2019.

In order to prove Mr. Lancial guilty of possession of child pornography, as charged, the state was required to prove four elements beyond a reasonable doubt: 1) that on or about July 9, 2019, Mr. Lancial knowingly possessed a recording; 2) the recording showed a child engaged in sexually explicit conduct; 3) Mr. Lancial knew or reasonably should have known that the recording contained depictions of a person engaged in actual or simulated sexual intercourse or lewd exhibition of intimate parts; and 4) Mr. Lancial knew or reasonably should have known that the person shown in the recording engaged in sexually explicit conduct was under the age of 18 years. See WIS JI-CRIMINAL 2146A.

On appeal, the only element at issue is the first element – Mr. Lancial's knowing possession of child pornography on or about July 9, 2019. As the jury was instructed, "Possessed' means that the defendant knowingly had actual physical control of the recording. A recording is also in a person's possession if it is in an

Case 2022AP000146 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-06-2022 Page 17 of 30

area over which the person has control and the person intends to exercise control over the recording." (78:3). See also WIS JI-CRIMINAL 2146A. With this definition in mind, review of the record reveals that the state's evidence fell short of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Lancial knowingly possessed child pornography on the date alleged.

The evidence established that Mr. Lancial's cell phone was seized and searched on July 9, 2019, revealing the ten images of child pornography for which he was charged. All ten images, however, were found in the cache folder of the gallery application on the phone. (144:88; App. 134). Mr. Stofferahn explained what that meant during his testimony. First, he informed the jury that the gallery application "is where all of your photos are taken and stored" regardless of whether the picture is taken with the phone itself or downloaded from the internet. (144:89; App. 135). Next, he explained that the cache folder is not something the user of the phone would see while using the gallery application; the purpose of the cache folder is to allow the gallery application to "open and find" photos faster. (144:90; App. 136). When the user of the phone clicks on an image in the gallery application, that image gets bigger and a cache file, which is a smaller version of the image, is created and placed in the cache folder. (144:92-93; App. 138-139). If the photo in the gallery application is deleted, the cache file remains, though the user "can't physically see the file in the cache folder." (144:93-94; App. 139-140).

Case 2022AP000146 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-06-2022 Page 18 of 30

In addition to explaining that, due to their location in the cache folder, the images for which Mr. Lancial was charged were inaccessible, Mr. Stofferahn admitted that the original images were not on the phone and that there was no way to know when the images themselves were downloaded or when they were put in the cache gallery. (144:100-104; App. 146-150). Similarly, Investigator Zassenhaus informed the jury several times that the images had no meta data and therefore, she could not say when, where, or how those images were downloaded to the phone. (144:41-43, 54-57, 64; App. 87-89, 100-103, 110). Simply put, the state had no evidence showing when or how Mr. Lancial allegedly downloaded or accessed the original images, or when those images were deleted from the phone.

Unlike prior cases in which this court found sufficient evidence to support convictions of child pornography, here the state presented no evidence that Mr. Lancial had searched the internet for child pornography, visited any websites containing it, or that on the date in question, any images of child pornography were saved in a location where he could access and control them. See State v. Lindgren, 2004 WI App 159, ¶27, 275 Wis. 2d 851, 687 N.W.2d (finding sufficient evidence to demonstrate knowing possession because the defendant "repeatedly visited child pornography Web sites, clicked on thumbnail images to create larger pictures for viewing, accessed five images twice, and saved at least one image to his personal folder); See also State v. Mercer, 2010 WI App 47, ¶1, 324 Wis. 2d 506, 782 Case 2022AP000146 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-06-2022 Page 19 of 30

N.W.2d 125 (noting that each case is fact specific "with the bottom line being that the defendant in each case affirmatively reached out for and obtained images of child pornography and had the ability to control those images.").

The only evidence provided by the state in this case was that, on July 9, 2019, the day Mr. Lancial's phone was seized and searched, there were images of child pornography contained in the cache folder of the gallery application. The state admittedly had no information about when or how the images in the cache folder came to be on Mr. Lancial's phone. Further, the prosecutor herself described the cache folder of the gallery application as a "hidden folder" – one in which the user of the phone would no longer be able to see or access the images. (137:87-88). According to the state's own witnesses, on July 9, 2019, would longer have Mr. Lancial no knowingly possessed the images – he would not have had actual physical control over them, nor did he intend to exercise control over them - they had been deleted and were no longer accessible.

In sum, the state's case rested solely on the fact that the images were in a hidden, inaccessible folder on the date the phone was searched – July 9, 2019. (See 144:170). That evidence was insufficient to establish that Mr. Lancial knowingly possessed child pornography on or about July 9, 2019. See U.S. v. Flyer, 633 F.3d 911, 918-919 (9th Cir. 2011)(holding that evidence of images found in the unallocated space of a computer, which cannot be seen or accessed by the

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