FILED 07-05-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

Filed 07-05-2022

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2022AP146-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

THOR S. LANCIAL,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER ENTERED IN DUNN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ROD W. SMELTZER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LORYN L. LIMOGES Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1094653

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 264-9487 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) limogesll@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

I. The record contains sufficient evidence to support that Lancial knowingly possessed child pornography.

Lancial's sole challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is that there was insufficient evidence presented that he "knowingly possessed" child pornography. (Lancial's Br. 16.) Lancial is wrong. Sufficient evidence existed to support his conviction and this Court should affirm.

A. Lancial bears a heavy burden challenging the sufficiency of the evidence.

A defendant bears a heavy burden challenging the sufficiency of the evidence. $State\ v.\ Norman$, 2003 WI 72, ¶ 66, 262 Wis. 2d 506, 664 N.W.2d 97. "It is well established that a finding of guilt may rest upon evidence that is entirely circumstantial and that circumstantial evidence is oftentimes stronger and more satisfactory than direct evidence." Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d at 501. Moreover, the standard in sufficiency of the evidence cases is "the same in either a direct or circumstantial evidence case." Id. If more than one reasonable inference may be drawn from the evidence, this Court adopts the inference that supports the verdict. Id. at 503–04.

"[T]he trier of fact is the sole arbiter of the credibility of witnesses and alone is charged with the duty of weighing the evidence." *State v. Below*, 2011 WI App 64, ¶ 4, 333 Wis. 2d 690, 799 N.W.2d 95 (citing *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 506). In other words, it is exclusively the task of the trier of fact to decide which evidence is worthy of belief and which is not, and to resolve any conflicts in the evidence. *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 506.

This Court is precluded from substituting "its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* at 507. "If *any possibility* exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt, an appellate court may not overturn a verdict even if it believes that the trier of fact should not have found guilt based on the evidence before it." *Id.* (emphasis added).

"This court . . . substitute[s] its judgment for that of the trier of fact [only] when the fact finder relied upon evidence that was inherently or patently incredible—that kind of evidence [that] conflicts with the laws of nature or with fully-established or conceded facts." *State v. Tarantino*, 157 Wis. 2d 199, 218, 458 N.W.2d 582 (Ct. App. 1990).

B. Lancial does not meet his burden of demonstrating the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction.

Lancial's sole challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence is that there was insufficient evidence presented that he "knowingly possessed" child pornography. (Lancial's Br. 16.) He does not dispute that the child pornography was on his phone or that it was, in fact, child pornography. (Lancial's Br. 16.) Instead, he argues that "[t]he evidence presented at trial was insufficient to prove beyond a

⁸ The four elements the State was required to prove for a violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m) are that (1) the defendant knowingly possessed a recording, (2) the recording showed a child engaged in sexually explicit conduct, (3) the defendant knew or reasonably should have known that the recording contained depictions of a person engaged in actual or simulated sexual intercourse or lewd exhibition of intimate parts, and (4) the defendant knew or reasonably should have known that the person depicted in the recording was under the age of 18 years. Wis. JI—Criminal 2146A (2020).

Filed 07-05-2022

reasonable doubt" that Lancial "knowingly possessed the ten images" of child pornography. (Lancial's Br. 15.) His argument is unpersuasive for three reasons: (1) State v. *Mercer*, 2010 WI App 47, 324 Wis. 2d 506, 782 N.W.2d 125, is dispositive, (2) sufficient evidence was offered that he knowingly possessed the ten images of child pornography found on his phone, and (3) the standard of review compels this Court to affirm.

First, his argument is unavailing because the main legal theory underlying his sufficiency of the evidence argument presents a question this Court already addressed in *Mercer*. The first part of Lancial's argument boils down to this: the State could not prove he knowingly possessed ten images of child pornography because it was in an inaccessible part of his phone. (Lancial's Br. 17.) He presents his case as a novel application of facts to Wis. Stat. § 948.12(1m). But this Court has already addressed "knowing possession" in cases where the evidence is not simply accessible pictures on a device.

In State v. Mercer, this Court held there was sufficient evidence of "knowing possession" where the proof was evidence from a computer monitoring software showing that the defendant searched for and obtained access to web sites and viewed pornography. Mercer, 324 Wis. 2d 506, ¶ 31. There, this Court held that an "individual knowingly possesses child pornography when he or she affirmatively pulls up images of child pornography . . . and views those images knowing that they contain child pornography." Id. Proof of the image's existence does not matter—whether it is in a hard drive or somewhere else, like a cache file. *Id*.

With Mercer, this Court identified the core of what constitutes knowing possession as this: "courts are more concerned with how the defendants got to the . . . child pornography, than what the defendants actually did with the images." Id. ¶ 29 (emphasis added). In all of those cases, the

Filed 07-05-2022

"defendant reached out for the images." Id. Hence, "[w]hether the proof is hard drive evidence or something else, such as the monitoring software here, [it does] not matter because both capture a 'videotape' of the same behavior." *Id.* ¶ 31. Thus, in cases where evidence of child pornography is found in a cache storage area, the question is whether there was evidence that the "user affirmatively reached out for and obtained the images." Id. ¶ 29. It does not matter that the images were inaccessible to the user after the fact. In Mercer, this Court concluded there was sufficient evidence of knowing possession even where the images were inaccessible because the jury heard evidence from which it could infer the defendant deleted the photos. *Id.* ¶¶ 33-34.

Mercer's requirement that there be evidence of some affirmative act to constitute knowing possession is consistent with this Court's prior decision in State v. Lindgren, 2004 WI App 159, 275 Wis. 2d 851, 687 N.W.2d 60. Similar to here, the defendant argued that there was insufficient evidence of knowing possession because "no evidence of any child pornography had been saved on [his] computer" even though the State introduced exhibits of "five thumbnail images and six other images" that were found on Lindgren's hard drive. Id. ¶¶ 21, 23. This Court rejected his sufficiency of the evidence argument because the State's experts testified about affirmative acts the defendant needed to undertake for the images to even "have been stored on the hard drive." Id. ¶ 27. Likewise, in State v. Schroeder, 2000 WI App 128, ¶ 20, 237 Wis. 2d 575, 613 N.W.2d 911, this Court concluded that the subscription to online defendant's newsgroups distributed child pornography was relevant and probative to defendant "knowingly possessed pornography." This Court's precedent is clear: even if the actual child pornography is inaccessible, evidence of a defendant's affirmative acts may prove up knowing possession in child pornography cases.

In short, Lancial's legal theory that the State failed to prove he knowingly possessed the images because "the images were in a hidden, inaccessible folder" misses the mark. (Lancial's Br. 19.) The State did not need to prove that it located accessible images of child pornography to prove that Lancial knowingly possessed those images. Instead, the State needed to prove that Lancial had actual physical control of the images or that the images were in an area over which he had control and that he intended to exercise control over them. Wis. JI-Criminal 2146A (2020).

Second, the record supports the reasonable inference that the ten images of child pornography were, at the times alleged, in an area over which Lancial had control and that he intended to exercise control over them. As to the area of exclusive control, the child pornography was found on Lancial's phone, and he told Lieutenant Pollock that "he was the sole user of that cell phone." (R. 137:164.) Although Lancial initially told investigators about someone he referred to as his niece using the phone to download "gymnastic related things," additional investigation revealed that no such niece existed. (R. 137:165; 144:48-49.) Beyond Lancial's false claim that a "niece" used his phone, there was "[n]o admission by any person that they put [the child pornography images] there." (R. 144:51.) The State offered uncontroverted testimony that child pornography was downloaded from a device associated with the Lancials' IP address in spring of 2019. (R. 137:117–23; 83; 84.) The only device that contained child pornography was Lancial's phone. Moreover, the State explained that the lack of metadata was because Lancial deleted the photos. (R. 144:104.) Moreover, it is undisputed that the only way that cached images could get onto the phone is if the user affirmatively downloaded such images. (R. 144:93–94.) Thus, sufficient evidence was offered that the child pornography was found in an area over which Lancial had exclusive control, specifically his cell phone.

As to evidence that he intended to exercise control over the child pornography, sufficient evidence was offered that established Lancial intended to exercise control over the ten images of child pornography found on his phone. Lancial argues that the State presented "no information about when or how the images in the cache folder came to be on [Lancial's] phone," but that is not supported by the record. (Lancial's Br. 19.) Officer Wilterdink testified about the cyber tip line report from NCMEC about child pornography being accessed from the Lancials' IP address in March and June of 2019. (R. 137:117-23.) Both Anthony Stofferahn and Investigator Zassenhaus testified about finding the child pornography on Lancial's cell phone, specifically in the "cache file within the gallery of the device." (R. 144:88.) Further, all the photos, except for number 6 which was a downloaded photo, were screenshots of an image. (R. 144:46–47.) Thus, all the photos were the result of affirmative acts of Lancial.9

Moreover, the State explained the lack of web browsing history was due to the "Tor Onion Browser as well as 12 VPNs," all of which were not "standard" issue on phones and required that Lancial download them from the internet. (R. 144:78, 80–81.) The jury reasonably concluded the reason there was no search history evidence is because Lancial purposely shielded it. Indeed, the lack of an internet search history is not fatal in child pornography cases. *Mercer* does not specifically require evidence of internet search history to find evidence of knowing possession. Rather, this Court relied

⁹ Lancial cites to *United States v. Flyer*, 633 F.3d 911, 919 (9th Cir. 2011), where the court declined to find knowing possession when the child pornography was found in an unallocated space on a hard drive. That case is not binding on this Court, and it is distinguishable since, unlike here, there was no evidence presented at trial how the defendant "accessed, enlarged, or manipulated" any of the images nor was there evidence that he viewed the images in the charged timeframe. *Id*.

on Mercer's "habit of surfing the [i]nternet for pornography" to establish knowing possession. 324 Wis. 2d 506, ¶ 33. Because the State in *Mercer* presented expert testimony that the child pornography evidence was due to affirmative acts, and not a computer virus or pop-up ads, this Court found sufficient evidence of knowing possession. *Id.* ¶ 41. At base, *Mercer* requires evidence of "how" a defendant got to the images since the key is that the defendant affirmatively "reached out for the images" and intended to exercise control over them. *Mercer*, 324 Wis. 2d 506, ¶ 29.

Important here, the State explained the affirmative acts Lancial needed to undertake for the child pornography to even exist in the cache folder of the gallery application of his phone. Anthony Stofferahn testified about how a photo would end up in the cache file of a user's photo gallery. (R. 144:93; 96.) First, the user would need to "take the photo themselves with the device, download images from the internet, [or take] screenshots." (R. 144:89.) Next, when a user clicks on a photo in the gallery application of their phone, a cache file is created which is "the exact same image except smaller size." (R. 144:93.) And even when a photo is deleted from the photo gallery application, the photo will still be in the cache file. (R. 144:94.) Thus, for the child pornography to even end up in the cache folder of Lancial's gallery application, Lancial had to affirmatively "go through this process." (R. 144:93.) Moreover, the State fully rebutted the possibility that a virus could have caused the child pornography. (R. 144:30–31.) Accordingly, Lancial's argument that the State "presented no evidence that Mr. Lancial had searched the internet for child pornography" is not true. (Lancial's Br. 18.) The jury reasonably concluded that the reason there was no search history for child pornography was because Lancial purposely shielded it.

Further, the State offered unrebutted evidence that reflected on Lancial's consciousness of guilt. The State referred to Lancial's evasive and contradictory responses to

law enforcement about the child pornography on his phone. During his interview with Lieutenant Pollock, Lancial tried to blame the "gymnastics related" photos on his phone on a nonexistent "niece." (R. 137:165.) He also lied to Investigator Zassenhaus about when he acquired a tablet because he did not want her to take the tablet away. (R. 95 at 34:55–35:05.) Testimony at trial explained that Lancial's phone had a "Tor Onion Browser" and "12 VPNs" and that both are used to "mask an IP address" and allow for anonymity while searching the internet. (R. 144:78–79.) The presence of such tools explained why Lancial's phone had minimal search history and informed the jury that Lancial undertook evasive measures to hide his search history. (R. 144:78–79.)

Lastly, the standard of review in this case dictates that this Court should affirm the judgment of the factfinder. When the evidence supports more than one inference, this Court must accept the inference drawn by the jury unless the evidence on which that inference was based is incredible as a matter of law. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d at 506-07. Here, Lancial does not develop an argument on what other inference the jury should have taken from the evidence. (Lancial's Br. 16–20.) Nor does he argue that the circumstantial evidence of knowing possession was incredible as a matter of law. Instead, he only argues the State failed to establish knowing possession at trial. (Lancial's Br. 20.) His argument ignores this Court's deferential standard of review in sufficiency of the evidence cases; this Court upholds the jury's verdict so long as any reasonable hypothesis supports it. *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 506–07.

Therefore, to the extent Lancial's argument is that the jury could have concluded another person or computer virus caused the child pornography, his argument is unavailing. No evidence was presented at trial that supported this conclusion. Instead, the jury heard evidence that child pornography was downloaded from the Lancials' IP address,

Filed 07-05-2022

the child pornography was found on Lancial's phone, and expert testimony established the affirmative acts that Lancial needed to execute for that child pornography to even exist in the cache file of his photo gallery application. (R. 137:117–23; 144:88–93.) The State fully rebutted the possibility of a virus or other malware causing the child pornography. (R. 144:30– 31.) Moreover, there was no evidence that anyone, other than Lancial, ever owned the phone. (R. 144:50–51.) This supported the reasonable inference that Lancial knowingly possessed child pornography contrary to section 948.12(1m). In other words, the only inference from the evidence was that Lancial knowingly possessed child pornography.

Because the evidence discussed is not incredible as a matter of law and provided a sufficient factual basis for the jury's findings that Lancial knowingly possessed child pornography on the relevant dates, this Court should affirm.

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